### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILBURN LAMB, )	
Appellant, )	
vs. )	CASE NO. 70,369
STATE OF FLORIDA, )	
Appellee. )	
/	001 y 100

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

بېم دەمەرلىك

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

a and

DUDING CRAM

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

JAMES R. WULCHAK ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL DIVISION 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 6, 1986, the grand jury in and for Brevard County, returned an indictment charging Appellant, WILBURN AARON LAMB, with one count of first degree premeditated murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1985), one count of first degree felony murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)2e, Florida Statutes (1985), one count of burglary of a dwelling with an assault therein in violation of Sections 810.02(1) and 810.02(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1985) and one count of grand theft in violation of Sections 812.014(1)(a)(b) and 812.014(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1985). (R3373-3374) Appellant filed numerous pre-trial motions including a motion to preclude imposition of the death penalty (R3090); a motion to declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985) unconstitutional (R3110-3112); motions to suppress physical evidence and confession (R3095-3096,3135,3150-3152) These motions were denied. (R3225,)

- 1 -

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on December 8-13, 1986, with the Honorable Charles M. Harris, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R1-1296) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (R1291,3234-3237) On December 19, 1986, Appellant filed a motion for judgment of acquittal, a motion for arrest of judgment and a motion for new trial. (R3278-3279,3280,3281-3283)

On January 20-22, 1987, the penalty phase was held resulting in a jury recommendation of 8-4 that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R1297-1846,3314) On February 24, 1987, Appellant appeared before Judge Harris for sentencing. (R1854-Appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to death as 2017) to the premeditated murder count. (R2253) Judge Harris found four aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance. (R2210-2214,2222) Judge Harris imposed no sentence for the felony murder but sentenced Appellant to 40 years for the burglary charge and five years for the grand theft charge. (R2224,3325-Judge Harris filed written findings of facts in support of 3329) the sentence of death. (R3330-3341) Appellant filed an addendum to his motion for new trial, a motion to interview the jurors and a motion to declare the death penalty unconstitutional. (R3345-3346,3347-3348,3349-3353,3354-3356) All post-trial motions were denied. (R226, 2340) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on March 26, 1987. (R3357) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R3368)

- 2 -

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase:

On the evening of January 20, 1986, Karl Eberenz had dinner at Marie Atkinson's house. (R264) Because he had a doctor's appointment the next day, Eberenz left Marie's house at 8:10 pm to go home to bed. (R265-266) Eberenz lived in an apartment over a sand blasting and undercoating business that he co-owned in West Melbourne, Florida. (R264) Marie telephoned Eberenz the following morning just before 6:00 am but got no (R267) Marie called several more times but never got an answer. (R268) Fearing that something was wrong, Marie went to answer. Eberenz' apartment, banged on the door and called out for Eberenz but got no response. (R268) She looked for the hidden key to Eberenz' apartment but could not find it. (R269) Marie returned to her home and called Eberenz' son, Mike, and told him she was worried about his father. (R271) Marie also called 911 and informed the police of her concern about Eberenz. (R272)Marie returned to Eberenz' apartment where she met the police and Eberenz' son Roger and his wife. (R272-273) Roger had a key to get inside one of the ground floor car bays through which he could get to his father's apartment by way of an inside staircase. (R273,418) The lock on the door to the apartment had been (R357,418) The entire apartment had been completely broken. ransacked. (R273, 361, 419) Officer Louis Rice and Roger went through the apartment and found the body of Karl Eberenz lying on the floor in the hallway just outside the kitchen. (R361,419) An autopsy performed on the body revealed that the cause of death

- 3 -

was due to lacerations of the skull and brain and depressed skull fractures resulting in hemorrhaging caused by numerous blows to the head. (R308-309) The injuries could have been caused by a small gold hammer found in Eberenz' apartment. (R313) However no blood was found on the hammer which is unusual due to the large amount of blood. R(935,323) A search of the apartment revealed that several items of jewelry were missing including a gold ring with diamonds, a 14 carat gold necklace and a gold bracelet. (R421,432) Eberenz had received two awards from Mechanix Illustrated Magazine. (R420) These consisted of small gold hammers and certificates. (R420) Only one hammer was found in the apartment. (R451) Numerous footprints were found in the soft sand between the two buildings on the property. (R375-376, 465, 617) One footprint was found on a poster lying on the floor in front of the clothes washer in the apartment. (R482) An axehandle was found in the field just outside the property compound. (R372,402,612) Traces of blood were found on the axe-handle. (R409,950) Numerous latent fingerprints were lifted from the area. (R489,609,634) None of the prints matched Appellant's prints. (R631-632,609)

Mary Holscher, Appellant's girlfriend, lived at the River Oaks Motel in Melbourne, with Bruce Haskell and Frank Clauser. (R647,649) On January 20, 1986, she spent the day at the motel with Appellant, Haskell and Clauser. (R650) About 6:30 pm, Appellant and Haskell left the motel in Clauser's car. (R751-752,651) They were gone for about 3½ hours. (R652,752) When they returned, Appellant and Haskell brought food from

- 4 -

Burger King and a \$30 bag of Marijuana. (R652,760,863) Appellant also had a large gold and diamond ring and a gold necklace. (R652,760-761,865) Appellant had blood on his shoes. (R652,864) Appellant told Mary they had found a wallet in the dresser of the place they broke into. (R658) When asked about the blood, Appellant said he had run over a dog with the car and had to kick it off the road. (R658,864) Later that night, Appellant told Mary that he and Haskell had burglarized a Little Caesar's Pizza Restaurant and taken money from the safe after which they went to Eberenz' apartment in West Melbourne, totally ransacked it and took money from the wallet in the dresser and jewelry they found in a closet. (R659) The next evening, Mary spoke to Appellant's mother who was worried because she had heard that an old man in West Melbourne had been killed. (R660-662) Mary confronted Appellant with this information after which she claimed Appellant told her what had happened. (R662) He and Haskell went to Eberenz' apartment, ransacked it completely and found money and (R663) Haskell then cooked some soup because he was jewelry. (R663) Eberenz came home while they were still there so hungry. Appellant and Haskell hid. (R663) Appellant had an axe handle with him. (R663) However, because Appellant was so tall, the axe handle would scrape the ceiling, so he armed himself with a (R664) When Eberenz walked in and noticed someqold hammer. thing was wrong, Appellant hit him one time in the head. (R664)When Haskell saw what had happened, Appellant momentarily thought about killing Haskell to make it look like a struggle had occurred. (R664) Haskell and Appellant left, got some marijuana,

- 5 -

stopped at Appellant's mother's house, picked up some food at Burger King and returned to the motel. (R665) Appellant said they wore gloves and socks on their hands. (R698) Appellant took Mary out to Lake Washington where he said he had thrown Eberenz' wallet. (R666) After discussing the matter with her mother, Mary called the police. (R665,791) Five witnesses testified that Mary Holscher had a reputation for untruthfulness. (R1013,1024,1032,1040,1053)

On several occasions prior to January 20, 1986, Appellant and Haskell discussed breaking into an "old man's" house in West Melbourne. (R782,890) Haskell knew the man because he had previously worked there. (R783,691) Appellant did not know the man. (R783)

Timothy Kaye overheard Appellant and Haskell discussing the burglary. (R890) Although he cannot be sure who said what, Kaye heard Haskell and Appellant talking about hitting the man with a rubber mallet. (R891) Kaye told them that if they hit the man too hard they were liable to kill him. (R891) While they were watching a news report of the homicide, Kaye asked Appellant and Haskell if that had not been the place, but Haskell said no and he and Appellant laughed. (R894,900)

Appellant was arrested in the parking lot of the San Juan Apartments in Melbourne. (R793,848) Appellant was wearing the gold necklace taken from Eberenz. (R805) Appellant also had Eberenz' ring in his left front pocket. (R848) Appellant was advised of his rights and understood them. (R799,801) Although Lt. Fair knew Appellant was only 17 years old he was held for two

- 6 -

hours before his mother was called. (R808,810) Lt. Fair told Appellant he was facing the death penalty. (R856) Appellant was nervous. (R853) Deputy David McCormick gave Appellant a cigarette and asked him what happened. (R854) Appellant said that Haskell had been planning to rob the man for months because he had previously worked there and he knew the man had money. Haskell and a man named Bucky had gone to the man's house (R854) the previous night but nothing had happened. (R854) Appellant and Haskell returned the next night, went up the back stairs, found the place ransacked and the man dead. (R854) They freaked out, took some jewelry and left. (R854) Deputy McCormick left and when he returned he told Appellant that he knew he would not go to the house to purposely hurt the man and therefore asked if the man unexpectedly surprised them while they were burglarizing the apartment. (R854) Appellant then admitted that that was in fact what happened and that they never meant to hurt anyone. (R854)

At trial, Appellant testified that he went with Haskell to Eberenz' apartment because Haskell told him there were drugs there. (R1064-1065) After parking one block away, Haskell and Appellant split up with Haskell going upstairs to the apartment while Appellant searched downstairs in the work area for drugs. (R1065) Haskell carried a tire iron upstairs with him. (R1066) While Appellant searched downstairs, he heard things being strewn around upstairs and some glass breaking. (R1068) After finishing his search of the downstairs, Appellant went upstairs where he found Haskell in the kitchen leaning up against the

- 7 -

refrigerator, crying. (R1072-1073) Haskell told Appellant that he had just killed Eberenz. (R1073) Appellant saw Eberenz lying in a pool of blood, checked for a pulse and determined Eberenz was dead. (R1073-1074) Appellant was scared and suggested to Haskell that they leave. (R1075) Haskell held out his hand and dropped some jewelry and just cried. (R1075) Appellant picked up the jewelry and started to leave. (R1075) Haskell had a ring and a bracelet and as they left, he told Appellant to grab a necklace which was hanging on a nail in a closet. (R1076) When they got back to the motel, Haskell took out Eberenz' wallet and gave Appellant \$145.00. (R1076) They went inside and ate, after which Haskell and Appellant went to a ditch where they threw the wallet. (R1076) Appellant never discussed the matter with Mary Holscher. (R1076) When arrested, Appellant had the ring and necklace which Haskell had given him to pawn. (R1078) Appellant admitted that he originally told Deputy McCormick that Eberenz was dead and the apartment was ransacked when they arrived. (R1097) Appellant further testified that although they discussed the fact that they would get drugs, they never planned on actually going into the apartment. (R1087,1082) Appellant did not recall any conversation concerning hitting anyone with a rubber mallet. (R1083) Appellant did not kill Eberenz. (R1082)

- 8 -

Penalty Phase:

Bruce Haskell testified that he and Appellant discussed on numerous occasions the plans to rob Eberenz, whom Haskell knew from the days when he worked for a sign company located on the premises of Eberenz' business. (R1319,1325) As originally planned, Appellant would hit Eberenz on the head with a stick and they would take his wallet. (R1326) Although he claimed he did not want to hit Eberenz, Haskell went along with the plan. Appellant and Haskell went to Eberenz' on one occasion, (R1328) but Haskell objected to hitting Eberenz so they left and decided to return when Eberenz was not home. (R1327) They returned when Eberenz was not at home and broke into the apartment. (R1331-1333) They searched the apartment, looking for drugs and/or money but found none. (R1334-1336) Haskell claimed he wanted to leave, but Appellant told him he intended to wait until Eberenz returned, hit him on the head and steal his wallet. (R1338) Haskell hid in the office and when Eberenz came home, Haskell heard Appellant hitting him. (R1339-1340) Haskell stopped Appellant by grabbing his hand. (R1341) Eberenz fell down, moaning. (R1341) Appellant kicked Eberenz and he stopped moaning. (R1342) Appellant took Eberenz' wallet and ran out of the apartment. (R1343) Haskell suggested calling 911 but Appellant said no. (R1344) They went to Appellant's house where Haskell waited in the car for approximately 45 minutes. (R1344) They went to a canal where they threw Eberenz' wallet, after which they purchased some marijuana. (R1345) After stopping at McDonald's, Appellant and Haskell returned to the motel. (R1345)

- 9 -

Originally, Haskell agreed to a deal with the state whereby he could plead to second degree murder in return for a sentence of 12-15 years; He rejected it because he felt he had not killed anyone so he should not have to plead to it. (R1347) The offer was renewed on December 13, 1986, the final day of Appellant's trial but he again refused. (R1348) After Appellant was convicted, on December 15, 1986, Haskell decided to accept the state's deal which was why he was testifying. (R1348)

Arthur Beaulier was a cellmate of Bruce Haskell in county jail. (R1562) Haskell discussed the case with Beaulier and told him that he (Haskell) had killed Eberenz. (R1571) Haskell also told Beaulier that he would testify "in a minute" that he saw Appellant commit the murder on the condition that he could get straight probation. (R1572-1573) At Haskell's request, Beaulier wrote a letter to Appellant in which Haskell offered to testify for Appellant in exchange for a "nice chunk of change." (R1589-1599) After Haskell learned that Beaulier had spoken with Appellant's lawyer, he spread the word that Beaulier is a snitch. (R1587) Beaulier got nothing in return for his testimony. (R1588)

Appellant was born prematurely on March 19, 1968. (R1374,1767) Appellant had two brothers and a sister, the youngest of which was seven years older than Appellant. (R1376-1377) Appellant had a weight problem as a child. (R1419) Appellant's brother Bill was jealous of Appellant and used to taunt him and beat him up. (R1417,1456) Bill eventually introduced Appellant to marijuana. (R1456)f As Appellant entered

- 10 -

adolescence, he underwent a change, becoming withdrawn and started doing poorly in school. (R1386,1453,1459) In November, 1984, Appellant entered Horizon Hospital in Tampa for treatment for psychiatric problems and drug abuse. (r1709) Appellant was diagnosed as suffering from a major mental disorder characterized by severe depression. (R1713-1714) Appellant was put on antidepressant medication. (R1718) After 5½ weeks, Appellant was released with the recommendation that he remain on medication and continue therapy at home. (R1724,1726) Appellant's mental disorder could impair his ability to function in society. (R1728)

When Appellant was 14 years old he became active in scouting in the Firefighter Explorers. (R1463) Appellant was a leader among the boys. (R1404) In December, 1985, Appellant was in an auto accident, after which he started having bizarre moments during which he would stare absently. (R1406-1407) On one occasion Appellant was at a friend's house, Appellant went into a daze and urinated on the kitchen floor. (R1406) Later, he had no recollection of doing this. (R1406)

- 11 -

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I</u>: The Eighth and the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution prohibit cruel and unusual punishment. The imposition of the death penalty on an individual who was a juvenile at the time of the crime violates these constitutional provisions.

<u>POINT II</u>: Appellant's death sentence cannot stand. The aggravating circumstances of previous conviction of a felony involving the use of violence, heinous, atrocious and cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated are not supported by the evidence. The remaining aggravating circumstance, in the commission of a burglary, is insufficient to support a death sentence.

Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, the constitutionality of the death penalty for juveniles, Section 921.141(6)(g), Florida Statutes (1985) mandates the finding of a juvenile's age as a mitigating factor which is entitled to great weight. While the weight accorded to mitigating circumstances is up to the trial judge to decide, it is error for the court to refuse to find the evidence to be mitigating.

<u>POINT III:</u> It is improper to permit a jury to convict a defendant of two counts of murder for a single death. It is similarly error to force the accused to defend against two counts of murder especially where the defense of one could entail an admission of guilt as to the other.

- 12 -

<u>POINT IV:</u> In determining the voluntariness of a confession the trial court must look to the totality of the circumstances. When the confession is by a juvenile, the trial court must consider whether the arresting officer complied with the requirements of Section 39.03(3), Florida Statutes (1985) which requires notification of the juvenile's parents. The court must also consider such things as the conduct of the police and the youth of the defendant.

<u>POINT V</u>: The combination of trial errors in the instant case deprived the Appellant of his constitutional right to due process and a fair trial. These errors included the admission of irrelevant and highly inflammatory photographs, the refusal of the trial court to allow Appellant to present evidence of bias and motive on the part of the key state witness, the improper admission of hearsay, the refusal to instruct the jury on circumstantial evidence, and the denial of the trial court of Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal as to the count of premeditated murder.

<u>POINT VI</u>: Because the instant offenses occurred after October 1, 1983 it is mandatory that as to the non-capital offense a guideline scoresheet be prepared and sentencing proceed in accordance with the sentencing guidelines. The failure of the trial court to follow the procedures mandated by Rule 3.701, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requires resentencing as to the non-capital offenses. <u>POINT VII</u>: Although this Court has previously rejected numerous attacks to the constitutionality of the death penalty in Florida Appellant urges reconsideration particularly in light of the evolving body of case law which in some cases has served to invalidate the very basic cases on which the death penalty was upheld in the State of Florida.

#### POINT I

THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY ON AN INDIVIDUAL WHO WAS A JUVENILE AT THE TIME OF THE CRIME CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.  $\frac{1}{2}$ 

The murder of Karl Eberenz occurred January 20, 1986. At that time Appellant was seventeen years old. (R1063) Appellant filed a pre-trial motion to preclude imposition of the death penalty (R3090) and a pre-trial motion to declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1983) unconstitutional. (R3110-3112) Appellant also filed a post-trial motion to declare Florida's death penalty statutes unconstitutional. (R3354-3356) Appellant asserts that imposition of the death penalty on an individual who was a juvenile at the time the crime was committed is fundamentally unconstitutional.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel or unusual punishments inflicted.

The proscription against cruel and unusual punishment is applicable to the states by reason of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber, 329 U.S. 459, 67 S.Ct. 374, 91 L.Ed.422 (1947); Robinson v.

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