IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILBURN AARON LAMB,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 70,369

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

/

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

W. BRIAN BAYLY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

C. <u>Alleged Hearsay</u>.

Appellant's third complaint about the trial involves testimony of state's witness Tim Kaye who testified that he heard appellant and the co-defendant planning to burglarize the victim's house. Specifically, appellant takes issue with the remark that Kaye heard either appellant or the co-defendant discuss plans to hit the victim over the head with a mallet (R 893). Kaye did not remember if it was appellant or the co-defendant who said it (R 899).

This testimony was admissible, assuming that it was the co-defendant who made the statement, under section 90.803(18)(e), Florida Statutes (1985). <u>Honchell v. State</u>, 257 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1971); <u>Bourjaily v. United States</u>, ______U.S.___, 107 S.Ct. 2775, ___L.Ed.2d____ (1987); <u>United States v. Inadi</u>, ______U.S.___, 106 S.Ct. 1121, ___L.Ed.2d____ (1986), holding that the government does not need to show the unavailability of the co-defendant as a condition to the admission of the out-of-court statements of a non-testifying coconspirator. These latter three cases stand for the general proposition that a co-conspirator's statement concerning the conspiracy is admissible as long as the state has other independent evidence of that conspiracy. As the trial court noted, <u>Tresvant v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), allowed the admissibility of such testimony under section 90.803(18)(e), notwithstanding that a conspiracy was not actually charged. <u>Tresvant</u> explained that all that was needed was independent proof of the conspiracy.

Undoubtedly there was ample independent proof of the conspiracy and the fruits of the conspiracy, the substantive crimes themselves. Tim Kaye testified, without objection, that he heard appellant and the co-defendant talk about burglarizing the victim's abode and the possibility of knocking the victim out with their fists (R 870, 890-891). Frank Clauser, testifying for the state, heard appellant and the co-defendant talk about breaking into an old man's home in West Melbourne (R 781-782). Mary Holscher tesified that

just after the crimes, appellant told her that they both hid and waited for the victim to come home. Appellant indicated that he had an ax handle to use for this purpose but the ceiling was too low so that he had to use a hammer found in the apartment instead (R 663-664). An ax handle was found at the crime scene (R 372). When one considers the enormous amount of evidence recovered from the crime scene along with all the admissions made by appellant not only to Mary Holscher but to Deputy McCormick, there is no doubt that there is ample independent evidence to sustain the trial court's ruling that such testimony was admissible, assuming for the sake of argument that it was the co-defendant who made the contested statement.

Appellant maintains that section 90.804(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1985), precludes the admission of this testimony. In <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 490 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1986), evidence was precluded under this section based upon a confession of a co-conspirator which was covertly tape-recorded and played for the jury. The opinion, however, explained that this testimony could have been admissible under section 90.803(18)(e), if the statement was substantiated by independent evidence of a conspiracy and the appellant's participation in that conspiracy. As noted above, there was such independent evidence in the present case. As such, the testimony was admissible under 90.803(18)(e).

This testimony was likewise admissible under section 90.803(18)(b), Florida Statutes (1985), which allows a statement that is offered against a party when the party has manifested his adoption or belief in the truth of that statement. The contested testimony in <u>Tresvant</u>, <u>supra</u>, was also admitted under this theory. <u>See also</u>, <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 177 So.2d 243 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965), where, in charging a defendant for a possession of an illegal still, it was held that the co-defendant's statement, said in the presence of the defendant and police officers, that "if the beverage agents had just been a

- 61 -

day or so later everything would have been cleared out" was held admissible because the defendant made no response or denial of that statement. Likewise, appellant made no denial or protest when this comment was made. Indeed, Tim Kaye's testimony was that both appellant and co-defendant were discussing the plans and it could have been that appellant actually made the statement. In any event, there is no question that appellant adopted the statement of the co-defendant based upon Mr. Kaye's testimony (R 870, 890-891).

As to the felony murder and all the other offenses, based upon appellant's testimony, there is no question that any alleged error in the admission of this testimony would be harmless. Appellant admitted talking about going to the victim's business to burglarize it (R 1064-1065). Although appellant's initial story was that he only entered the downstairs business to look for narcotics, he eventually went upstairs because he heard an apparent scuffle and then saw the victim dead on the floor (R 1069, 1071-1073). But while appellant was inside the apartment, he took the victim's jewelry and some cash (R 1075-1076). Although it was the defense theory that appellant did not originally have the intent to go into the victim's apartment, burglary is defined to include entering or <u>remaining</u> with an intent to commit an offense therein. (emphasis supplied). § 810.02(1), Florida Statutes (1985).

Likewise there was overwhelming evidence of premeditated murder. As discussed in subpoint C, the admissions to Mary Holscher's were corroborated by the police investigation at the crime scene, in the car which the perpetrators used, and in the property recovered from the appellant. Of course, it is not necessary that the state prove that the appellant planned the murder long before he entered the victim's premises. <u>See</u>, Subpoint D, infra.

D. <u>Alleged Failure to Grant a Judgment of Acquittal Pursuant to</u> <u>Premeditated Murder</u>.

Appellant maintains that the state only proved felony murder, not premeditated murder, and argues that appellant's own admissions buttress this conclusion. Therefore, so the argument goes, a judgment of acquittal should have been granted pursuant to the premeditated murder indictment.

This court established long ago that the question of premeditated murder is one of fact that may be established by the jury from all the evidence. Robinson v. State, 3 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1941). In Middleton v. State. 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1982), a victim's body was found in her house. The cause of death was due to a shotgun wound in the back of her head. The appellant was picked up on unrelated charges and confessed. On appeal, he claimed that the decision to kill the victim was a "snap" decision and therefore the evidence was insufficient to prove premeditation. This court noted that Middleton sat for an hour contemplating the death of the victim. Whether the decision was a "snap" decision or whether it was contemplated for a significant period of time made no difference in that court's holding. "In either event, that the decision was made at all is sufficient to prove premeditation." Id. at 550. This court explained that a defendant does not need to think or reflect for any minimum duration of time in order for the jury to convict him of premeditated murder. In this case, appellant confessed to Mary Holscher that after they had ransacked the house, they cooked soup and waited for the victim to return to his apartment (R 663). Appellant admitted that he had an ax handle but since he was so tall, the ax handle would scrape against the ceiling so he used a golden hammer which he found in the apartment (R 663-664). An ax handle or sledgehammer handle was recovered at the scene (R 409, 683-684). Although this evidence would definitely show that appellant planned and contemplated the murder, even if appellant speculates that the decision to kill the victim was a "snap" decision, it would make no difference.

There is still another factor to be considered in this question. In <u>Preston v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 939, 944 (Fla. 1984), this court held that premeditated murder could be demonstrated by circumstantial evidence. The evidence can demonstrate a premeditated design (thus a jury question) due to the nature and the manner of the wounds inflicted, the weapon, and the absence of provocation. Again, this court reiterated that any definite length of time in contemplating the murder was not required. Hence, the jury could decide that the murder was premeditated by the amount and severity of the head wounds. The medical examiner described in great detail the severe nature of these wounds (R 296-304). He opined that heavy force was used (R 311). Also noteworthy, is his testimony that the victim's hand was swollen, which would be consistent with a defensive wound (R 308, 311).

In <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 777, 779-780 (Fla. 1985), the defendant was charged with premeditated and felony murder. The defendant argued that the evidence was sufficient only to prove felony murder. The court rejected that argument, explaining that the jury could decide that the store clerk, shot in a robbery, was the victim of a premeditated murder because there was no evidence that the clerk precipitated an accidential murder or that the shooting was reflexive. The same reasoning is applicable to the case at bar. The case under review is even stronger because the appellant admitted obtaining a weapon and waiting for the victim in hiding. When one considers the severity of the wounds, there is no question that the state had more than ample evidence to submit to the jury on the issue of premeditated murder.

E. <u>Refusal to Give the Circumstantial Evidence Jury Instruction</u>

Appellant maintains it was prejudicial error not to give the circumstantial jury instruction, notwithstanding that such an instruction is obsolete. Appellant acknowledges this court's holding in In The Matter of Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981). In that case, this court quoted from the case of Holland v. U.S., 348 U.S. 121, 139-140, 75 S.Ct. 127, 139, 99 L.Ed. (1954) (which abolished the circumstantial evidence instruction), as follows: "[T]he better rule is that where the jury is properly instructed on the standards for reasonable doubt, such an additional instruction on circumstantial evidence is confusing and incorrect." Later on in the opinion, this court explained that the giving of the proposed instructions on reasonable doubt in the burden of proof rendered this instruction unnecessary. Based on the above, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give this instruction, even though a trial court is not totally prohibited from giving such an instruction. See also, White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031, 1035 (Fla. 1984).

Such an instruction is not only superfluous, but under the facts in this case, totally unwarranted. There was direct evidence against the appellant based upon his admission/confession to Mary Holscher, Tim Kaye, and Deputy McCormick (R 663-664, 854, 870, 890-891). In <u>Dunn v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 641, 642 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), it was held that a confession of guilt to another citizen constituted direct evidence - not circumstantial evidence. As such, all these prior admissions constitute direct evidence; therefore, this instruction would be misleading.

F. The Alleged Trial Errors Would be Rendered Harmless Based Upon the Overwhelming Evidence of Guilt

Assuming for the sake of argument that the trial court did err in each of these issues under Point V, such errors would be harmless based upon the overwhelming evidence of guilt. Not one of the issues argued in this point would constitute <u>prejudicial</u> error, not only because the issues are <u>de minimus</u> in themselves, but also because the alleged errors would be rendered harmless based on the overwhelming evidence of guilt. Not only was a mass of physical

- 65 -

evidence collected at the murder scene, at the motel where appellant and the co-defendant were living, from appellant's person, and from the car he was driving at the time of the arrest, but such physical evidence was also corroborated by the admissions made to Mary Holscher, Tim Kaye, and Deputy McCormick. <u>See</u>, Subpoint C, and the Statement of Facts-Guilt Phase, <u>supra</u>. § 924.33,, Florida Statutes (1985).

POINT VI

A GUIDELINES SCORESHEET WAS UNNECESSARY AND SINCE THE SENTENCE WAS LEGAL, APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO OBJECT BARS APPELLATE REVIEW

Appellant notes that the record does not have a guidelines scoresheet although the appellant received forty years imprisonment for the burglary and five years concurrent for the grand theft (R 3327-3329). Appellant does <u>not</u> argue that this sentence is illegal. Indeed, such an argument would be fruitless inasmuch as this court has held that an unscored capital offense can be used as a basis to depart from the guidelines. <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1081, 1087 (Fla. 1987); <u>Weems v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985) (juvenile offenses).

Since the sentence is not illegal, appellee submits that the lack of an objection to the failure to prepare and submit a guidelines scoresheet would bar appellate review (R 2224, 2228). In <u>State v. Whitfield</u>, 487 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1986), this court held that sentencing errors which do not produce an illegal sentence or unauthorized departure still require a contemporaneous objection.

Furthermore, the lengthy written sentencing order pursuant to section 921.141, would make a guidelines sentencing scoresheet superfluous. The trial court went into great detail about the circumstances surrounding the murder/burglary/grand theft (R 3331-3334). The trial court found that the homicide was done pursuant to a burglary with an assault. He found the circumstances of the murder heinous, atrocious or cruel and that the offenses were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. A sentencing guidelines scoresheet would be totally unnecessary, especially in light of the detailed written sentencing order.

- 67 -

POINT VII

THE DEATH PENALTY IN FLORIDA IS CONSTITUTIONAL BOTH ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED, AND THE SPECIFIC ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL CHALLENGING THE DEATH PENALTY IN FLORIDA HAVE NOT BEEN PRESERVED BELOW.

Appellant has raised numerous objections to the constitutionality of the death penalty pursuant to section 921.141. Appellee has quantified them into eleven objections. Appellant acknowledges that these objections have been rejected but nevertheless re-asserts them.

Appellee perceives eleven separate objections in this point. Of all those objections, appellee submits almost none have been argued below. Therefore, these issues may not be considered for the first time on appellate review. Toward the end of the point, appellant argues that the death penalty is not reviewed in a proportional manner and leads to inconsistent and capricious results. This argument was preserved below (R 3355)^{*}.

There are two motions which seek to declare the death penalty unconstitutional because it is carried out through electrocution (R 3108, 3173). However, both of these motions are signed by appellant's former attorney, Joe Mitchell. Mr. Mitchell withdrew from this case (R 3087, 3227). In the absence of anything in the record which indicates that appellant's trial attorney adopted these motions, appellee submits that this issue, likewise, has not been preserved. There were a number of motions challenging the constitutionality of the death penalty, but those motions were either filed by Mr. Mitchell or did not entail the specific grounds argued on appeal (R 3090, 3108-3109, 3110-3112, 3173, 3354-3356). In Eutzy, supra, the

As a corollary to this argument, appellant maintains that this court has not made an independent determination of the death penalty in this case. Appellee submits this argument was never presented below either.

defendant argued for the first time on appeal that the statutory authority granted a trial judge to override a jury's recommendation of life is unconstitutional as applied. This court held that the issue was not timely raised before the trial court and thus was not preserved for appellate review. <u>Id. at 757. <u>See also</u>, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983).</u>

Although appellee urges this court to dismiss these arguments based upon procedural grounds, appellee will address the merits of each argument. Appellant claimed the capital sentencing statute in Florida fails to provide any standard of proof for determining that aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating factors. The United States Supreme Court in <u>Zant v. Stephens</u>, 462 U.S. 862, 890-891, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 2750, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983), explicitly rejected this argument.

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